University of Mississippi

eGrove

Electronic Theses and Dissertations

Graduate School

2019

Development of Controlled Release Oral Dosages by Density Gradient Modification Using 3D Printing Technologies

Zhiqing Hu University of Mississippi

Follow this and additional works at: https://egrove.olemiss.edu/etd

Part of the Pharmacy and Pharmaceutical Sciences Commons

Recommended Citation

Hu, Zhiqing, "Development of Controlled Release Oral Dosages by Density Gradient Modification Using 3D Printing Technologies" (2019). *Electronic Theses and Dissertations*. 1623. https://egrove.olemiss.edu/etd/1623

This Thesis is brought to you for free and open access by the Graduate School at eGrove. It has been accepted for inclusion in Electronic Theses and Dissertations by an authorized administrator of eGrove. For more information, please contact egrove@olemiss.edu.

Development of Controlled Release Oral Dosages by

Density Gradient Modification

Using 3D Printing Technologies

A Thesis

presented in partial fulfillment of requirements

for the degree of Master of Science

in the Department of Pharmaceutics and Drug Delivery

The University of Mississippi

by

Zhiqing Hu May 2019

Copyright Zhiqing Hu 2019

ALL RIGHTS RESERVED

ABSTRACT

Over the years, three-dimensional (3D) printing has gradually become more common in people's lives. Due to its quick development, it has attracted the attention of researchers in the pharmaceutical industry. The main purpose of this project was to couple fused deposition modelling (FDM) 3D printing with hot melt extrusion (HME) technology to manufacture tablets with different drug release profiles and to solve dose issues related to an individual's physiological differences and to enhance extended release properties. Ketoprofen was used as the model drug and different properties were added to the polymer to create a formulation suited to HME technology for the production of filaments used for printing.

This study also investigated polymer matrices and how 3D printing can affect a drug's release into the body.

DEDICATION

This paper will be dedicated to everyone I love; especially my parents and grandfather, Jianbo Hu, Li Sha and Yitang Hu, who have cared about me from the other side of the ocean.

Thank you so much to everyone who supported me in through the good times and bad.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

I would like to express my appreciation to all those who made this study possible and helped me writing this thesis. I gratefully acknowledge the help of my advisor, Dr. Michael A. Repka, who has offered me valuable suggestions in the academic studies.

Second, I would like to express my heartfelt gratitude to Dr. Walter G. Chambliss and Dr. Eman Ashour. It's my honor to have them be my committee member for the master thesis defense.

Special thanks should go to my seniors in the lab Pengchong Xu and Jiaxiang Zhang, who taught me a lot and always have instructive advice and useful suggestions on my project.

Last my thank would go to my family and friends for their loving consideration and great confidence in me these years.

CONTENTS

Abstract ii
Dedicationiii
Acknowledgments iv
Contentsv
List of References
List of Tablesx
List of Figures xi
Introduction1
Material and Methods
Materials6
Methods7
Formulations7
HME Process
Filaments Texture Analysis
Model Design for 3D Printing9

Thermogravimetric Analysis (TGA)10)
Differential Scanning Calorimetry (DSC)10)
Filaments and 3D Printing1	1
Scanning Electron Microscopy (SEM)12	2
Tablets Morphology Test 12	2
In Vitro Drug Release Study	3
Dissolution Mathematical Model Study1	3
Results and Discussion	5
Thermal Analysis1	5
Filaments Texture Analysis17	7
Tablets Morphology Analysis 19)
In Vitro Drug Release Study	1
Dissolution Kinetic Studies	5
Zero-order Kinetic Release Model	5
First-order Kinetic Release Model20	5
Higuchi Model22	7
Ritger- Peppas Model	7
Analysis of the Drug Using Mathematical Models	7

Conclusion	
References	
VITA	20
V11A	

LIST OF REFERENCES

Vasconcelons, Sarmento and Costa, 20071
Sareen, Joseph and Mathew, 20121
Tiwari et al., 20161
Repka et al., 20072
Govanes et al., 20152
Zhang et al., 20172
Gross et al., 2014
Gibson et al., 2015
Sareen et al., 2012
Jonathan and Karim, 20165
Siepmann and Göpferich, 200112
Rösler et al., 2007
Costa and Lobo, 2003

Vareles et al., 1995
Sweeney and Burnham, 199026
Gohel et al., 2000
Petropoulos et al., 2012
Ritger and Peppas ., 198727
Dash et al., 2010
Costa and Lobo, 2001
Peppas and Sahlim, 1989
Unagolla and Jayasuriya, 201729

LIST OF TABLES

Table 1. Two different formulations for extrusion.	7
Table 2. Density gradient modification 3D Printing tablets design	12
Table 3. Filaments 3-point bending test and stiffness test results	19
Table 4. Geometric characteristics of the 3D printed tablets	23
Table 5. Dissolution kinetic parameters of 3D printing tablets	29
Table 6. R/F parameters for T1-T9	31

LIST OF FIGURES

Figure 1. HME combined with 3D Printing process schematic diagram
Figure 2. Standard screw configuration of Thermo Scientific [™] Pharma 11-mm diameter Twin-
screw Extruder
Figure 3. PLA 3-point bending test
Figure 4. 3D printing design of shell10
Figure 5. TGA thermogram for ketoprofen, HPMC- K4M, HPMCAS-HG and HPC-LF 16
Figure 6. DSC thermogram for F1 and F2 homogeneous mixture and the printed core and shell
grinded powder16
Figure 7. Difference in size and texture between shell and core
Figure 8. SEM 3D structure of T5, with a 30% shell fill and 50% core fill22
Figure 9. In vitro drug release profiles of tablets T1-T9, 100mg ketoprofen released from the
HPMC and HPC matrix

1. Introduction

The solid dispersion mainly means that the poorly soluble drug is dispersed in a watersoluble carrier in an amorphous state. For poorly water soluble drugs, solid dispersions have been shown to significantly improve their dissolution rate, solubility and oral bioavailability. It improves the wettability of the drug by minimizing the particle size, thereby improving the oral bioavailability. In this study solid dispersion was obtained through a method called Hot Melt Extrusion (HME) (Vasconcelos, Sarmento and Costa, 2007; Sareen, Joseph and Mathew, 2012). HME has been used in the manufacturing process of the plastics industry for a long time, but only recently has it begun to show great potential in pharmaceutical use. When using the HME process for the creation of a pharmaceutical dosage, a homogeneous mixture of active pharmaceutical ingredient (API) and other excipients are rapidly heated and softened in the extruder and then pressurized into filaments through the die. In addition to improving the oral bioavailability of API, HME can also be used to develop controlled release drug systems and the ability to mask API's bitter taste (Tiwari et al., 2016). HME is an effective technique for producing solid dispersions, which has great advantages over conventional processes for the high lipophilicity and poor solubility drugs. The use of HME technology to improve apparent solubility and dissolution of APIs and drug's oral bioavailability demonstrate the value of this

technology as an important drug delivery processing tool (Repka et al., 2007). In recent years, more and more researchers have attempted to combine HME with 3D printing, and their achievements have also proved that this novel technology has great potential for development (Goyanes et al., 2015).

In the traditional sense, three-dimensional printing(3DP) has changed the ink from the normal printer to thermoplastics. Now the most common 3D printing material is Polylactic Acid (PLA). PLA is an extremely common synthetic plastic with a low melting point and can be melt processed at 180°C. There are many factors that affect the use of filaments and 3D printing, but the most important parameters for evaluating whether a filament suits the production standards of a 3d printed medicine are the viscosity, stiffness and brittleness of the filament. These aspects are important during the printing process as filaments with the wrong attributes will often crack or detach from the 3d printer's baseplate in such a way that printing cannot be completed. Since most of the plastics manufacturing industry typically uses PLA in 3d printing, we can use PLA as a reference to evaluate whether or not our extruded filaments meet the industry standard (Zhang et al., 2017).

The principle of the fused deposition modelling (FDM) 3D printer is based on a digital model file, using an adhesive material such as plastic to construct an object by layer-by-layer printing. Until this layer is completely printed and cured that the next layer can be started. This covering surface and the curing process are repeated until the object is finished. The first step of 3D printing is to design the required 3D model by a computer aided design (CAD) program (eg, Autodesk® Fusion 360TM) and then convert it to a STL file (Standard Mosaic Language or STereo-lithography) (Gross et al., 2014). 3d printers have a chamber dedicated to feeding a solid filament into the extruder; and while it is best to be able to feed continuously, the material can also be fed as a liquid using a pump. The material should uniform in its preparation so that the chemicals are distributed evenly in the final tablet form (Gibson et al., 2015). Once in the feeding chamber, the filament is then heated up to a melting point in a 3D printer which is then pushed through the extruder and printed as the design designated by the STL file. (Fig. 1).



Figure 1. HME combined with 3D Printing process schematic diagram

Under the Biopharmaceutical Classification System (BCS), drugs that have unit does that result in low solubility in 250ml of aqueous over a range of pH are classified as Class II or Class IV (depending on permeability) so they emphasize dissolution as a rate-limiting step for oral absorption of BCS Class II and Class IV drugs (Sareen et al., 2012). According to the existing guidelines, ketoprofen is a weak acid, belonging to the BCS Class II. Because of this, we needed to improve the solubility of Ketoprofen.

3D printing has many advantages over traditional dosage forms so more manufacturers are investing in research and development. The first 3D printed prescription drug has already been successfully marketed in the US. Called Spritam-Aprecia, it was approved by the FDA in 2015 for the treatment of partial epileptic seizures. This new dosage form requires only a little bit water to allow the tablet to dissolve quickly in the mouth, which also gives people who have difficulty swallowing more choices (Aprecia Pharmaceuticals, Langhorne, PA, USA).

The gastrointestinal tract is the main limiting factor when looking at the speed of oral controlled release formulations. And while it is difficult to optimize the formulation to deal with this factor, it can be done through the control the dissolution process and by guiding the development and quality of the final product by studying the rate of release of in vitro controlled release formulations and predicting the rate of release through mathematical models. Drug dissolution is a complex process and while it is difficult to use a fixed mathematical model for all the dissolution data, it is possible. Current researchers tend to use some classical mathematical model to forecast the release for example, zero-order kinetic release model, first-order kinetic release model, Higuchi model and Ritger - Peppas model. These classic mathematical models are a big help in analyzing the data.

In this research, the intent is to investigate the different types of pharmaceutical polymers to prepare filaments suitable for 3D printing. The main objectives of this study are as follows: 1) Using Autodesk® Fusion 360TM to design an original model of the tablet for print. 2) Based on the physical and chemical properties of the API and polymer, select the appropriate polymers suitable for 3d printing. 3) Couple HME and FDM 3D Printing to print controlled release tablets of different densities. 4) Studying the in vivo dissolution release profile of 3D printed tablets.

With the continuous development of the pharmaceutical field, the development of personalized doses of drugs has received increasing attention. 3D printing technology can meet the individual needs of people just as compared with traditional pharmaceutical dosage forms (Jonathan and Karim, 2016).

2. Materials and Methods

2.1 Materials

Ketoprofen (LGM Pharma, Jersey City, NJ, USA), the chemical used as the model API in this study, is an arylalkanoic acid compound. It has analgesic, anti-inflammatory and antipyretic effects, as well as a melting point of around 93-96 ° C. Other chemicals were also studied alongside the Ketoprofen. These include BenecelTM Hydroxypropyl methylcellulose(HPMC) K4M, AquaSolveTM Hydroxypropyl methylcellulose (HPMC) -AS HG, and KlucelTM hydroxypropylcellulose (HPC) LF wich were all donated by Ashland Inc. which is located in Covington, KY, US.

a) Methods

2.2.1 Formulations

We created a filament made up of 30% (w/w) Ketoprofen, 50% (w/w) HPMC K4M and 20% (w/w) HPMC- AS HG; we also made another filament with 30% (w/w) Ketoprofen, 50% (w/w) HPMC K4M and 10% (w/w) HPMC- AS HG 10% HPC LF. Both types of filament were prepared using a Thermo Fisher Scientific 11 twin-screw co-rotating extruder. Two formulations and the extrusion conditions were listed in Table 1.

Formulations	Process	Ketoprofen	HPMC-K4M	HPMC-ASHG	HPC
	Temperature	w/w%	w/w%	w/w%	LF
	(°C)				w/w%
F1	150	30	50	20	0
F2	150	30	50	10	10

Table 1. Two different formulations for extrusion.

2.2.2 HME Process

The two formulations were mixed as a powder to ensure an even distribution of chemicals before we applied the HME process. Then a Thermo Scientific[™] Pharma 11-mm diameter Twinscrew Extruder (Thermo Fisher, Waltham, MA, US) was used in this study to prepare the filaments for printing. The formulations were extruded at 150°C and the screw speed of 50 rpm in all zones with the standard configuration (Fig. 2). In addition, compared to the standard 3D Printing filament PLA and the 1.75mm diameter required of the 3D Printer; a 1.5mm round shape die was chosen to extrude filaments for the next 3D Printing step.



Figure 2. Standard screw configuration of Thermo Scientific[™] Pharma 11-mm diameter Twin-screw Extruder.

2.2.3 Filaments Texture Analysis

A TA-XT2i analyzer (Texture Technologies, Hamilton, MA, USA) was used to test the filament stiffness in this study. Smooth and even filaments were selected for texture analysis and each segment was cut 5cm long. In order to better optimize the formulation, we performed a stiffness test and 3-point bend test. When performing stiffness tests, we set the conditions to a speed of 2 mm/s and a trigger force of 5.0 g. For the 3-point bending test, we easily found the breaking force, breaking distance, stiffness and other parameters for each filament. Each of the filaments was placed on a test bench with a size of 25 mm. The test speed was 10 mm/s with a trigger force of 5.0 g; this was done at distances of 10.00 mm. Fifteen filaments for each formulation were tested and data collection and analysis were performed using Exponent software version 6.1.5.0 (Stable Micro Systems, God-alming, UK).



Figure 3. PLA 3-point bending test

2.2.4 Model Design for 3D Printing

Autodesk® Fusion 360TM (Autodesk Inc., USA) was used to design the tablet model we used in this study. The geometry of the selected dosage form is a tablet consisting of a cylindrical housing with a similarly shaped core (Figure 4). It was then exported as an STL file to be used with our printer, an Original Prusa i3 MK3S kit (PRUSA RESEARCH S.R.O. ,Prague, Czech Republic).



Figure 4. 3D printing design of shell

2.2.5 Thermogravimetric Analysis (TGA)

Thermogravimetric analysis (TGA) is a thermal analysis method that measures the mass of a sample as its temperature changes over time. For this study, the samples were tested by using a PerkinElmer Pyris 1 TGA Thermogravimetric Analyzer (PerkinElmer Inc, Waltham, MA, USA). By heated the samples from room temperature to 350 °C at 10°C/min in an open aluminum pan and applied ultra-purified nitrogen as a purge gas at a rate of 35 ml /min, data was collected then analyzed using Pyris software (TA Instruments, LLC, Water, USA).

2.2.6 Differential Scanning Calorimetry (DSC)

Differential scanning calorimetry (DSC) is a thermal analysis technique. It can measure a variety of thermodynamic parameters. The mixing powder, filaments, and printed tablets were all analyzed using DSC. The Diamond DSC system (PerkinElmer, Waltham, MA, US) was used to

measure and analyze the sample by heating the temperature from 10° C to 200° C at 25° C / min with a 5-15 mg sample inside a Tzero Hermetic Aluminum plate. Ultra-purified nitrogen was used as a purge gas at a rate of 50 mL/min. We collected the data using Pyris software (PerkinElmer) and analyzed the temperature and the amount of heat transferred per unit time.

2.2.7 Filaments and 3D Printing

We used the prepared filaments to print tablets through a fused deposition modeling (FDM) 3D printer called the Original Prusa i3 MK3S kit (PRUSA RESEARCH S.R.O. ,Prague, Czech Republic). The tablet core was made using F1(30% (w/w) Ketoprofen, 50% (w/w) HPMC K4M and 20% (w/w) HPMC- AS HG) and the outside shell was made up of F2(30% (w/w) Ketoprofen, 50% (w/w) HPMC K4M and 10% (w/w) HPMC- AS HG 10% HPC LF). We then imported the design into Ultimaker CURA software (version 3.4.1; Ultimaker, Geldermalsen, The Netherlands) to prepare it for printing.

The printing setting were as follows: printing temperature: 220°C; build plate temperature: 45°C; layer height: 0.06mm; wall thickness: 0.8mm; wall line count: 2; top/bottom thickness: 0.6mm; top/bottom layers: 10; horizontal expansion: 0mm; print speed: 60mm/s; build plate adhesion type: brim.

Table 2. Density gradient modification 3D Printing tablets design

Shell Density Density	20%	30%	40%
40%	T1	^{T2}	T3
50%	T4	T5	T6
60%	17	^{T8}	T9

2.2.8 Scanning Electron Microscopy (SEM)

The cross sections and surfaces of the shell and core of the printed tablet were analyzed using a JSM-7200 FLV Field-Emission Scanning Electron Microscope (SEM) (JEOL, Peabody, MA, U.S.). All samples are covered by a gold layer by a gold sputtering system for 30 s at ~ 70 mTorr pressure for visualization. Pictures were then taken by a Canon 60D camera (Canon, Tokyo, Japan). SEM is critical to our understanding of the internal structure of microscopic drugs, so we can also get more information about the potential release mechanism of drugs (Siepmann and Göpferich, 2001).

2.2.9 Tablet Morphology Test

In this study, VWR[®] Digital Calipers (VWR[®], PA, U.S.) were used to get the precise diameter and height of every tablets, checking each different density combination 5 times. The

standard tablet hardness tester (VK200; Agilent Technologies, Santa Clara, CA, USA) was used to determine the hardness of tablets, and each group was also be measured five times.

2.2.10 In Vitro Drug Release Study

A drug dissolution profile was obtained by the United States Pharmacopoeia (USP)-II Dissolution Apparatus (Hanson SR8-plusTM; Hansen Research, Chatsworth, Calif., USA) for 3D Printing tablets. The dissolution test was performed according to the United States Pharmacopoeia standards using a Phosphate Buffer (pH 6.8). Each experiment was performed in triplicate using 900 mL of the dissolution medium for 24 hours at 37°C with the paddle speed set to 50 rpm peddle speed and samples were taken at 0.25, 0.5, 0.75, 1, 2, 4, 6, 8, 12, 24 hours and analyzed. The amount of Ketoprofen released was determined by HPLC (Waters Corp., Milford, MA, USA) at 246nm using methanol: water as 7:3 as the moving phase and the sample analysis was performed using Empower software (version 2, Waters Corp.).

2.2.11 Dissolution Mathematical Model Study

An OriginPro 2019 64bit (OriginLab, Northampton, MA, U.S.) was used to analyze and create the dissolution curve in this study. The previous data from the in vitro drug release was imported to OriginPro 2019 64bit and choose the non-linear fitting and drawing and analyzing its relative curve carried out. In this experiment, we investigated the relationship between solubility and common mathematical release models of dissolution: zero-order kinetic release model, first-order kinetic release model, Higuchi model and Ritger - Peppas model. By comparing its

compatibility with various models, the most suitable mathematical dissolution model for ketoprofen-3D Printing tablets was selected to provide more accurate prediction of dissolution for future production. Correlation coefficient(R^2) was an important parameter in this study to judge the degree of fit of the model.

3. Results and Discussion

3.1 Thermal Analysis

From the TGA result (Fig.5), ketoprofen was been observed start to degrade after 290°C and other polymers start degrade around 350°C, so that also means the samples would stay stable during the HME 150°C and 3D printing 220°C.

The DSC curves for homogeneous F1 and F2 mixtures without HME process are for the Core and Shell curves respectively in Figure 6 below. Their DSC curve peaked at about 93°C. The curves of F1 and F2 after the HME process are the core and shell print shown in the Figure6. It can be clearly seen that after the heating process, there is no peak in F1 and F2, which shows that ketoprofen successfully formed homogeneous solid dispersion and achieved the amorphous state with polymer during the HME process.



Figure 5. TGA thermogram for ketoprofen, HPMC- K4M, HPMCAS-HG and HPC-LF



Figure 6. DSC thermogram for F1 and F2 homogeneous mixture and the printed core and shell grinded powder

KlucelTM HPC LF can be an immediate release- tablet binder, and AquaSolveTM HPMC-AS HG can be a controlled release tablet binder. So when we add AquaSolveTM HPMC-AS HG into shell's formulation, which has not been included in core formulation, we find some interesting effects. The different formulation design, combined with the difference between internal and external densities, can make the drugs in the shell release at a different rate, reaching the minimum effective concentration more quickly. Alongside that, a modified core can help to maintain a high blood concentration longer. This cascade makes the duration of action of the drug longer and maintain blood levels within the therapeutic window for a longer period of time.

Two formulations of ketoprofen- loaded filaments were successfully produced through the HME process. Compared to conventional methods, HME produces filaments which cause the API and polymer to form an amorphous condition in the molten state, and it squeezes more air out so that they can be intimately mixed. The lower porosity facilitates the of controlled release drug, which provides better control of its release curve. HME's extrusion process increases the hardness of the filaments and reduces the elastic deformation, which can better meet the requirements of 3D Printing.

3.2 Filament Texture Analysis

During 3D Printing, the filament is wound by a rotatable axle and fed automatically at a constant speed through a rigid feeding gear. Because of this, the filaments must have certain properties to work in the feeding system. If the filaments are not hard enough or too brittle or the viscosity is too low, they will be easily be broken during the feeding process and the printing cannot be continued. 3D Printing technology is still mainly used in the plastics industry rather

than pharmaceutical area, so we can compare the filaments we made with standard PLA to judge whether they are suitable for printing. Viscosity; hardness and brittleness are the most important parameters to look at when evaluating the compliance of filaments. The ability to deform a material when it is stressed is called ductility. The properties of the material itself that are hard and difficult to bend are defined as stiffness, which is when the ductility is low (Rösler et al., 2007). The stiffness is the key to determining whether the filaments can be successfully fed into the 3D Printer's feeder, because the filaments are easily broken during this process. According to physics, the brittleness should be calculated like this formula:

Stiffness= F/δ

Here, the applied force is F, and deformation is δ . In this study, we think that the breaking force is applied force, and the breaking distance represents deformation. In 3-point bending test, the breaking force means the magnitude of the force let filaments break. The breaking distance is the distance from the filaments start deformation till fracture. Then using these two parameters we can calculate the stiffness of the filaments. In this study, each group of filaments was tested and printed ten times. Successful printing for more than six times would be defined as adequate properties for 3D Printing. According to the previous study, we already chose the filaments good for printing in this study. As such, both F1 and F2 show good mechanical properties and have been printed successfully ten times each.

Table 3. Filaments 3-point bending test and stiffness test results

18

Formulation	Force	Distance	Stress	Stiffness	Property
	(g)	(mm)	(g/mm ²)	(g/mm)	
PLA	1189±12.62	3.75±0.21	10825.054±366.197	317.6±14.71	adequate
F1	628.78±25.49	8.57±0.96	6933.691±974.492	73.36±28.01	adequate
F2	431.5±9.44	6.8±0.45	7006.152±434.166	63.46±11.23	adequate

Compared with PLA, F1 and F2 require a relatively larger breaking force, and the breaking distance and stiffness are relatively smaller. This is because F1 and F2 are relatively soft, and the ductility is not easy to be broken. F1's breaking force and breaking distance are larger than F2 which has added extra HPC LF. It can also be concluded that HPC LF will soften the properties of the filaments, and HPMC AS-HG has higher stiffness than HPC LF. So HPC LF can only be added in a small amount to moderate the drug release. If there is too much, the filament cannot meet the requirements of 3D Printing.

3.3 Tablets Morphology Analysis

As shown in Figure 6, 3D Printing drug can maintain the stability of the print to produce tablets with specifications. Figure 7 shows the shells from 20% to 30% 40% from left to right. It can be clearly seen that the outer surface of the lower density shell is more rough, because the

lower density of the tablet is less precise. Figure 7b is 40% 50% 60% core from left to right, because the smaller the outer surface is smoother and less rough, but compared to Figure 7a, the difference in density can be clearly compared. Figure 7c shows a printed shell on the left and a core on the right.

. 1cm 2 -ALESICOLL. 1cm 2 MESTCOTT. EL 1cm 2 MESICOLL.

Figure 7. Difference in size and texture between shell and core

The SEM pictures of core and shell cross-section of 3D printed tablets show that the tablets are smooth and have excellent performance. Figure 8 also proved the difference of the 3D printing densities microscopically. For the outside shell it looked really porous and loose and for the inside core was much tighter. It can also be seen the layer by layer printing style form the bottom left one (Fig 8).

It can be seen from Figure 8 that 3D printing has demonstrated the advantages of stable quality of printed tablets in the pharmaceutical area, which laid the foundation for research consistency.



Figure 8. SEM 3D structure of T5, with a 30% shell fill and 50% core fill

The geometric characteristics for 3D printed tablets data (Table 4) shows pretty consistent, it means the printed tablets had really good stability at size. It can be seen from the data (Table 4) that due to the special structure of the shell core of the tablet, its hardness mainly depends on the density of the shell and is independent of the core, hardness would increase with the density increase. It can be seen from Table 4 that 3D printing has demonstrated the advantages of stable quality of printed tablets in the pharmaceutical area, which laid the foundation for research consistency.

Tablets	Diameter(mm)	Height(mm)	Weight(mg)	Hardness(kp)
20%Shell	10.04±0.17	5.07±0.08	337±24	14.4±0.1
40%Core				
20%Shell	10.14±0.32	5.05±0.09	339±30	14.4±0.1
50%Core				
20% Shell	10.08±0.28	5.02±0.05	347±12	14.4±0.1
60%Core				
30% Shell	10.09±0.31	5.11±0.21	332±17	15.3±0.1
40%Core				

Table 4. Geometric characteristics of the 3D printed tablets

30% Shell	9.98±0.23	5.02±0.06	340±12	15.1±0.2
50%Core				
30% Shell	10.17±0.29	5.17±0.08	351±10	15.1±0.2
60%Core				
40%Shell	10.01±0.09	5.04±0.19	343±18	15.3±0.3
40%Core				
40% Shell	10.05±0.13	5.12±0.25	357±21	15.4±0.2
50%Core				
40% Shell	10.05±0.17	5.15±0.03	347±19	15.4±0.2
60%Core				

3.4 In vitro drug release study

3D printed tablets of different densities were evaluated by their drug release rates curve. The 3D printed drugs all show good properties in controlled release rates because they have higher hardness, toughness and stiffness. It can be seen from Figure 9 that the release rate of a 3D printed drug is significantly slower as the density of the shell and core increases. This shows that we have successfully used a density gradient difference to produce 3D printed tablets that control the dissolution rate. The core and shell density is different through a maximum of 20% shell and 40% core, which makes the dissolution profile optimal. In the previous research, due to the special nature of 3D printing, the printed structure is very hard and compact, so it is recommended to try not to let the core have too high density under the condition of model design, which is not conducive to dissolution.

It is also clear from the dissolution curve that the density is one of the important factors when determining the dissolution rate of 3D Printing tablets. 3D printing requires only the change of the parameters in the software to make the operation more simple, fast and intuitive, and make the process more controllable, which is more conducive to manufacturing more personalized designs.



Figure 9. In vitro drug release profiles of tablets T1-T9, 100mg ketoprofen released from the HPMC and HPC matrix

3.5 Dissolution Kinetic Studies

The in vitro dissolution rate of a drug is an important parameter for determining formulation. When the dissolution rate of a certain dosage is expressed by a special mathematical function, it is easier to make a quantitative analysis of the dissolution prediction. Here a model of kinetics is used, where the drug release (Q(t)) over time is a function of time (t). To better analyze the dissolution of the drug, the following function is used here for analysis (Costa and Lobo, 2003).

3.5.1 Zero-order Kinetic Release Model

The formula here is: $Q(t)=Q_0+K_0t$. Where Q(t) is the release amount of the drug at time t, K_0 is the zero-order dissolution rate and it is a constant value, and M_0 is the initial amount of the drug in the solution at the initial state, that is, when t=0 (Vareles et al., 1995).

3.5.2 First-order Kinetic Release Model

This model uses the formula, $\ln Q(t) = \ln Q_0 + K_1 * t$. It's equal to $Q(t) = Q_0 * (1 - e^{-K_1 t})$, where Q(t) is the release amount of the drug at time t, K_1 is the first-order dissolution rate and. In this circumstances, the percentage of drugs eliminated per unit time in the body remains constant (Sweeney and Burnham, 1990).

3.5.3 Higuchi Model

This formula is: $Q(t) = Q_0 + K_H * t^{1/2}$. Where Q(t) is the release amount of the drug at time t, K_H is the drug release rate of Higuchi model and this model is the most common model to describe the controlled release drug (Gohel et al., 2000; Petropoulos et al., 2012).

3.5.4 Ritger - Peppas Model

The Ritger – Peppas model follows the formula, $Q(t)/Q(\infty) = kt^n$. Where Q(t) is the release amount of the drug at time t, Q is the release amount of drug at time ∞ ,

K and n are coefficients (Ritger and Peppas ., 1987).

3.5.5 Analysis of the Drug Using Mathematical Models

In this research, the parameters of the relevant fitting equations and other calculations can be easily calculated by using OriginPro 2019 64bit for the different kinetic release models, zeroorder kinetic release model, first-order kinetic release model, Higuchi model and Ritger -Peppas model. OriginPro 2019 64bit software can perform a variety of complex data simulation and numerical analysis and drawing operations. Since the original software directly obtains an intuitive release curve from the initial data, it can directly observe the data with large dispersion and better eliminate the experimental error.

OriginPro 2019 64bit was used for data linear and nonlinear fitting, and input of the function worked successively. Table 5 shows the zero-order kinetic release model(a), first-order kinetic

release model(b), Higuchi model (c), Ritger - Peppas model(d) and Peppas- Sahlin model, which were used in OriginPro 2019 64bit for the linear and nonlinear curve fitting. Studying these can also help us to understand the release of drugs more closely. The release of the drug can be divided into Fickian and non-Fickian diffusion. When the drug only has Fickian diffusion, the release rate of the drug is independent of the concentration of the drug, and the diffusion concentration is only time-dependent with distance. It can be seen from the figure that the firstorder kinetic release model; Ritger-Peppas model fits the curve better than the other 3 models (Dash et al., 2010; Costa and Lobo, 2001).

When considering the results of Ritger-Peppas equation, it can be seen that the fitting error at the last moment of cumulative drug release is large, but this can also be explained by the fact that the standard deviation of the raw data at the last moment is inherently large. The R² of the Ritger-Peppas equation also shows a good fit. When $n \le 0.45$, it means that there is only Fickian diffusion (drug diffusion); when $n \ge 0.89$, there is only Case II transport (skeletal erosion) and when 0.45 < n < 0.89, the drug release mechanism called non-Fick diffusion(anomalous transport). So n is the most important parameter in this equation and we printed 9 groups at different densities. The fitting results of the tablets all conformed to 0.45 < n < 0.89, which indicates that the dissolution process of this drug has both Fickian diffusion and Case II transport. The tablet release is the result of drug diffusion and skeleton dissolution (Ritger & Peppas, 1987). In order to better judge which diffusion dominates in the Ketoprofen-based 3D Printing tablets, the correction formula of the Ritger-Peppas formula, Peppas-Sahlin model is introduced here for further calculation. $Q(t)/Q(\infty) = k_1 t^{n_1} + k_2 t_2^{n_1}$, which involves the analysis of several variables. The model considers both Fickian diffusion (the first term of the equation) and the Case II relaxation (the second term of the equation) contribution. If the release of the drug only has a Fickian diffusion and the Case II relaxation can be completely ignored, the n_1 in the formula is equal to the n in the Rigter- Peppas formula. Therefore, the difference between n and n1 also proves that the release mechanism of the drug is the result of Fickian diffusion and Case II relaxation coupling. The percentage of drug F released by Fickian diffusion can be calculated by the following formula: $F=1/(1+k_2/k_1*t^n_1)$.

The ratio of Case II relaxation R to F can be calculated by the following formula (Peppas and Sahlim, 1989; Unagolla and Jayasuriya, 2017): $R/F = k_2/k_1 * t^n_1$.

	Zero-order		First-	rst-order Ritger-Peppas Higuchi Peppas-sah		as-sahlir	n					
	K_0	\mathbb{R}^2	\mathbf{K}_1	\mathbb{R}^2	n	\mathbb{R}^2	K _H	\mathbb{R}^2	K1	K2	N1	R ²
T1	4.22	0.83	0.31	1.00	0.47	0.94	23.23	0.94	0.19	0.07	0.85	1.00
T2	4.54	0.87	0.29	0.99	0.52	0.97	23.97	0.97	0.18	0.05	0.72	1.00
T3	5.21	0.69	0.42	0.95	0.56	0.93	25.18	0.96	0.11	0.04	0.80	0.99

Table 5. Dissolution kinetic parameters of 3D printing tablets

T4	5.38	0.71	0.26	0.96	0.59	0.96	22.79	0.98	0.12	0.05	0.67	1.00
T5	10.30	0.87	0.51	0.98	0.66	0.98	25.24	1.00	0.11	0.02	0.67	1.00
T6	4.69	0.81	0.32	0.95	0.54	0.98	21.30	0.99	0.13	0.02	0.59	1.00
T7	4.91	0.87	0.19	0.94	0.50	0.99	20.03	0.99	0.12	0.06	0.53	1.00
T8	5.68	0.78	0.50	0.95	0.59	0.94	21.39	0.97	0.10	0.04	0.52	0.99
Т9	5.69	0.78	0.49	0.95	0.58	0.94	21.42	0.97	0.09	0.04	0.52	0.99

Because the degradation of drugs is a very complex process as they are affected by not only physical factors but also chemical factors. Any mathematical modeling method must consider these processes. Although the Higuchi model is the most frequently used model in controlled release drug mathematical model fitting, researchers have pointed out that the classical equation using the Higuchi model is premised and more suitable for ideal conditions. The release of the drug needs to meet the following conditions (Siepmann & Göpferich, 2001; Zhang et al., 2017):

- i. The initial drug concentration should be much higher than the solubility of the drug.
- ii. Drug spread is one-dimensional.
- iii. Drug release under pure diffusion control.

iv. The swelling or dissolution of the iv polymer carrier is negligible.

Table 5 shows the different mathematical models fitting results, and after compared with the correction coefficient (R^2) we can see the Ritger –peppas , higuchi and peppas –sahlin fits the drug release more than others. And in all of these 3 model, Peppas-sahlin fits best. Because Peppas- sahlin is the correction formula of the Ritger-Peppas formula, so we will also get the diffusion method from it. We can use this equation to accurately predict the dissolution and release rate of the drug in future, which is of great significance for production.

Based on these prerequisites, the Higuchi model is not suitable for in vitro release of 3D printing in this study. Since the diffusion of the 3D printed tablet is not one-dimensional but three-dimensional, the initial drug concentration is not much higher than the solubility of the drug, and the swell happened during HPMCAS-HG skeleton erosion. Though Higuchi model fits good in here, it won't be applicable to describe this release profile.

	T1	T2	Т3	T4	T5	T6	T7	Т8	Т9
R/F	1.69	1.52	1.50	1.29	1.21	1.13	1.38	1.20	1.07

Table 6. R/F parameters for T1-T9

The table shows R/F of all 9 group tablets are greater than 1, so Case II relaxation dominates the dissolution part compared to Fickian diffusion. It can also be concluded that as the density increases, its dominant position will gradually weaken.

4. Conclusion

In this study we successfully produced ketoprofen-loaded filaments and printed them into designed tablets. At the same time, we successfully used the single-punch method to compress the tablets and performed a comparison of the in vitro dissolution experiments. Experiments have shown that the same material has significantly improved the dissolution rate after HME and 3D Printing process, and the therapeutic window of the drug is larger and better. We also confirmed that the printing density has a great influence on the dissolution rate of 3D printed tablets by the dissolution of 3D printed tablets of different density gradients. When the density is greater, the dissolution is slower; and when the density is lower, and the dissolution can be faster in the body. The effects of different printing densities on a drug's rate of release were successfully summarized by using the mathematical model, which provided data for the rational prediction of drug's rate of release in the future.

This research successfully combined 3D printing and HME to produced controlled release tablets with different densities. This research provides a foundation for the development of controlled release tablets using combined 3D printing and HME technology thus expanding the use of this emerging technology for development of more complex pharmaceutical in the future.

List of References

- Sareen, S., Mathew, G. and Joseph, L., 2012. Improvement in solubility of poor watersoluble drugs by solid dispersion. *International journal of pharmaceutical investigation*, 2(1), p.12.
- Vasconcelos, T., Sarmento, B. and Costa, P., 2007. Solid dispersions as strategy to improve oral bioavailability of poor water soluble drugs. *Drug discovery today*, *12*(23-24), pp.1068-1075.
- Tiwari, R.V., Patil, H. and Repka, M.A., 2016. Contribution of hot-melt extrusion technology to advance drug delivery in the 21st century. *Expert opinion on drug delivery*, *13*(3), pp.451-464.
- 4. Repka, M.A., Battu, S.K., Upadhye, S.B., Thumma, S., Crowley, M.M., Zhang, F., Martin, C. and McGinity, J.W., 2007. Pharmaceutical applications of hot-melt extrusion: Part II. *Drug development and industrial pharmacy*, *33*(10), pp.1043-1057.
- Goyanes, A., Chang, H., Sedough, D., Hatton, G.B., Wang, J., Buanz, A., Gaisford, S. and Basit, A.W., 2015. Fabrication of controlled-release budesonide tablets via desktop (FDM) 3D printing. *International journal of pharmaceutics*, 496(2), pp.414-420.
- Zhang, J., Feng, X., Patil, H., Tiwari, R.V. and Repka, M.A., 2017. Coupling 3D printing with hot-melt extrusion to produce controlled-release tablets. *International journal of pharmaceutics*, *519*(1-2), pp.186-197.
- Gross, B.C., Erkal, J.L., Lockwood, S.Y., Chen, C. and Spence, D.M., 2014. Evaluation of 3D printing and its potential impact on biotechnology and the chemical sciences.
- Gibson, I., Rosen, D.W. and Stucker, B., 2014. *Additive manufacturing technologies* (Vol. 17). New York: Springer.
- Sareen, S., Mathew, G. and Joseph, L., 2012. Improvement in solubility of poor watersoluble drugs by solid dispersion. *International journal of pharmaceutical investigation*, 2(1), p.12

- Goole, J. and Amighi, K., 2016. 3D printing in pharmaceutics: A new tool for designing customized drug delivery systems. *International journal of pharmaceutics*, 499(1-2), pp.376-394.
- Tiwari, R.V., Patil, H. and Repka, M.A., 2016. Contribution of hot-melt extrusion technology to advance drug delivery in the 21st century. *Expert opinion on drug delivery*, *13*(3), pp.451-464.
- Repka, M.A., Battu, S.K., Upadhye, S.B., Thumma, S., Crowley, M.M., Zhang, F., Martin, C. and McGinity, J.W., 2007. Pharmaceutical applications of hot-melt extrusion: Part II. *Drug development and industrial pharmacy*, *33*(10), pp.1043-1057.
- Goyanes, A., Chang, H., Sedough, D., Hatton, G.B., Wang, J., Buanz, A., Gaisford, S. and Basit, A.W., 2015. Fabrication of controlled-release budesonide tablets via desktop (FDM) 3D printing. *International journal of pharmaceutics*, 496(2), pp.414-420.
- 14. Zhang, J., Feng, X., Patil, H., Tiwari, R.V. and Repka, M.A., 2017. Coupling 3D printing with hot-melt extrusion to produce controlled-release tablets. *International journal of pharmaceutics*, 519(1-2), pp.186-197.
- Gross, B.C., Erkal, J.L., Lockwood, S.Y., Chen, C. and Spence, D.M., 2014. Evaluation of 3D printing and its potential impact on biotechnology and the chemical sciences.
- 16. Gibson, I., Rosen, D.W. and Stucker, B., 2014. *Additive manufacturing technologies* (Vol. 17). New York: Springer.
- Sareen, S., Mathew, G. and Joseph, L., 2012. Improvement in solubility of poor watersoluble drugs by solid dispersion. *International journal of pharmaceutical investigation*, 2(1), p.12
- Goole, J. and Amighi, K., 2016. 3D printing in pharmaceutics: A new tool for designing customized drug delivery systems. *International journal of pharmaceutics*, 499(1-2), pp.376-394.
- 19. Siepmann, J. and Göpferich, A., 2001. Mathematical modeling of bioerodible, polymeric drug delivery systems. *Advanced drug delivery reviews*, 48(2-3), pp.229-247.
- 20. Rösler, J., Harders, H. and Baeker, M., 2007. *Mechanical behaviour of engineering materials: metals, ceramics, polymers, and composites*. Springer Science & Business Media.

- Costa, P. and Sousa Lobo, J.M., 2003. Evaluation of mathematical models describing drug release from estradiol transdermal systems. *Drug development and industrial pharmacy*, 29(1), pp.89-97.
- 22. Varelas, C.G., Dixon, D.G. and Steiner, C.A., 1995. Zero-order release from biphasic polymer hydrogels. *Journal of controlled release*, *34*(3), pp.185-192.
- 23. Sweeney, J.J. and Burnham, A.K., 1990. Evaluation of a simple model of vitrinite reflectance based on chemical kinetics (1). *AAPG bulletin*, 74(10), pp.1559-1570.
- 24. Gohel, M.C., Panchal, M.K. and Jogani, V.V., 2000. Novel mathematical method for quantitative expression of deviation from the Higuchi model. *AAPS PharmSciTech*, 1(4), pp.43-48.
- 25. Petropoulos, G.P., Arvanitis, K. and Sigrimis, N., 2012. Hyperion hyperspectral imagery analysis combined with machine learning classifiers for land use/cover mapping. *Expert systems with Applications*, *39*(3), pp.3800-3809.
- 26. Ritger, P.L. and Peppas, N.A., 1987. A simple equation for description of solute release I. Fickian and non-fickian release from non-swellable devices in the form of slabs, spheres, cylinders or discs. *Journal of controlled release*, 5(1), pp.23-36.
- 27. Dash, S., Murthy, P.N., Nath, L. and Chowdhury, P., 2010. Kinetic modeling on drug release from controlled drug delivery systems. *Acta Pol Pharm*, 67(3), pp.217-23.
- 28. Costa, P. and Lobo, J.M.S., 2001. Modeling and comparison of dissolution profiles. *European journal of pharmaceutical sciences*, *13*(2), pp.123-133.
- Peppas, N.A. and Sahlin, J.J., 1989. A simple equation for the description of solute release. III. Coupling of diffusion and relaxation. *International journal of pharmaceutics*, 57(2), pp.169-172.
- Unagolla, J.M. and Jayasuriya, A.C., 2018. Drug transport mechanisms and in vitro release kinetics of vancomycin encapsulated chitosan-alginate polyelectrolyte microparticles as a controlled drug delivery system. *European Journal of Pharmaceutical Sciences*, 114, pp.199-209.
- 31. Zhang, J., Yang, W., Vo, A.Q., Feng, X., Ye, X., Kim, D.W. and Repka, M.A., 2017. Hydroxypropyl methylcellulose-based controlled release dosage by melt extrusion and 3D printing: structure and drug release correlation. *Carbohydrate polymers*, 177, pp.49-57.

32. Crowley, Michael M., Feng Zhang, Michael A. Repka, Sridhar Thumma, Sampada B. Upadhye, Sunil Kumar Battu, James W. McGinity, and Charles Martin. "Pharmaceutical applications of hot-melt extrusion: part I." *Drug development and industrial pharmacy* 33, no. 9 (2007): 909-926.

VITA

Zhiqing Hu

101 Creekmore Dr, Apt 1321C Oxford, MS 38655 <u>zhu@go.olemiss.edu</u>

EDUCATION

M.S., Pharmaceutics, University of Mississippi, May 2019

Thesis: Development of Controlled Release Oral Dosages by Density Gradient Modification Using 3D Printing Technologies

B.S., Pharmaceutics, China Pharmaceutical University, June 2017

PUBILICATION

Wang, M., Li, Y., Srinivasan, P., Hu, Z., Wang, R., Saragih, A., Repka, M.A. and Murthy,S.N., 2018. Interactions Between Biological Products and Product Packaging and PotentialApproaches to Overcome Them. AAPS PharmSciTech, 19(8), pp.3681-3686.